STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

**RECEIVED**

**May 05 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

Appeal from Union County

Honorable William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

THOMAS HAROLD SAILORS, JR.

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-000391

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

VICTOR R SEEGER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Whether the court erred by ruling the solicitor could argue in closing that the jury should consider evidence of a second Walmart forgery charge, of which the court had already directed a verdict of acquittal on for Appellant, when the jury considered Appellant's guilt on the remaining Park Sterling Bank forgery charge, since it invited a verdict on an improper basis where Appellant had been acquitted of the other forgery charge?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During the April 2018 term the Union County Grand Jury indicted Appellant on two counts of forgery. R. 136.

On February 26-27, 2019, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable William McKinnon. R. 1. Jennifer Williams represented Appellant. Id. Meghan Gilmer represented the state. Id.

At the conclusion of the trial, Judge McKinnon granted directed verdict on one of the two forgery charges, the “Walmart charge.” R. 67, ll. 6 – 20. Appellant was found guilty of the other forgery charge, the “Park Sterling Bank charge.” R. 128, ll. 10 – 13. Appellant was sentenced to four years’ imprisonment for forgery. R. 135, ll. 7 – 12.

This appeal follows.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“The trial court has broad discretion when dealing with the propriety of the solicitor’s argument, including the question of whether to grant a defendant’s mistrial motion.” State v. Copeland, 321 S.C. 318, 324, 468 S.E.2d 620, 624 (1996). “The trial court’s discretion will not be overturned absent a showing of an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law that prejudices the defendant.” Id. “On appeal, the appellate court will view the alleged impropriety of the solicitor’s argument in the context of the entire record.” Id. at 324, 468 S.E.2d at 625. “The appellate has the burden of proving she did not receive a fair trial because of the alleged improper argument.” Id. at 324, 468 S.E.2d at 625.

## ARGUMENT

The court erred by ruling the solicitor could argue in closing that the jury should consider evidence of a second Walmart forgery charge, of which the court had already directed a verdict of acquittal on for Appellant, when the jury considered Appellant's guilt on the remaining Park Sterling Bank forgery charge, since it invited a verdict on an improper basis where Appellant had been acquitted of the other forgery charge.

### **Relevant Facts**

On October 16, 2017, Appellant attempted to cash a check for \$117.00 at Park Sterling Bank. R. 8, l. 21 – 9, l. 15. The check was written by Brenda Keith, the complaining witness. R. 9, ll. 19 – 24. Keith, an elderly woman, claimed that she had not written the check to Appellant. R. 12, ll. 2 – 3; R. 28, l. 12 – 29, l. 10. The state alleged that Appellant forged that check and attempted to cash it. R. 19, ll. 12 – 20.

Appellant testified in his own defense and explained that he found the check sitting in his mailbox that morning. R. 73, ll. 18 – 25. Appellant did not know why the check was in his mailbox, but it was written to him, so he presumed he earned it. Id.

The state also alleged that Appellant tried to cash the same check earlier on the same day at a nearby Walmart. R. 46, l. 25 – 49, l. 12. Appellant was seen on a surveillance camera inside the Walmart; however, no evidence was presented that Appellant ever tried to cash the alleged forged check at Walmart that day. R. 65, l. 26 – 66, l. 20. Therefore, Judge McKinnon properly granted a directed verdict as to the Walmart forgery charge. R. 67, ll. 6 – 20.

After the successful directed verdict motion, the solicitor moved to be allowed to refer to the evidence from the Walmart charge at closing. R. 67, l. 21 – 68, l. 8. Defense counsel objected because using the evidence from the Walmart charge, to which directed verdict had been granted,

would improperly bolster the Park Sterling Bank charge. R. 68, ll. 15 – 23. The court overruled defense counsel’s objection and allowed the solicitor to refer to the Walmart charge during closing arguments. R. 68, l. 24 – 69, l. 9. The court stated it would instruct the jury that “the only determination you have to make is [the Park Sterling Bank] count.” R. 70, ll. 4 – 9. However, it is hard to see how that instruction would “cure” unfair prejudice to Appellant because the Park Sterling Bank charge was all that Appellant was still on trial for anyway. Moreover, the charge did not address the problem because it did not instruct the jury that the evidence from the already acquitted Walmart charge was not to be used in their deliberations on the still pending Park Sterling Bank charge.

Furthermore, the solicitor’s repeated references to the Walmart charge during her closing arguments destroyed any possibility of the court’s instruction “curing” the unfair prejudice to Appellant. R. 109, ll. 14 – 23; R. 111, ll. 6 – 25; R. 112, ll. 19 – 23; R. 114, ll. 6 – 16; R. 117, ll. 2 – 14. The solicitor stated that “we know [Appellant] acted criminally [at Park Sterling Bank] because among other things, Walmart wouldn’t cash the check.” R. 114, ll. 6 – 16. The solicitor argued that Appellant was forced to admit it was him on the surveillance camera at Walmart, “even though he didn’t want to,” and repeatedly referred to the video itself as though Appellant’s presence at Walmart was a prior bad act. R. 112, ll. 19 – 23; R. 109, ll. 14 – 23; R. 117, ll. 2 – 14. The solicitor also specifically told the jury to use the evidence from the Walmart charge as evidence of Appellant’s guilt while they are in deliberations for the Park Sterling Bank charge. R. 111, ll. 6 – 25.

The numerous improper comments by the solicitor were aimed at recharacterizing Appellant’s prior acts at Walmart as prior bad acts to use as propensity evidence to convict Appellant on the Park Sterling Bank charge. Her command to the jury to take into account the

Walmart charge evidence when deliberating for the Park Sterling Bank charge obliterated any mitigating effect the court's instruction could have had on the unfair prejudice to Appellant from those improper comments. R. 111, ll. 6 – 25; R. 114, ll. 6 – 16.

## **Discussion**

The court erroneously allowed the state to use Appellant's actions at Walmart, of which he was already acquitted by way of the directed verdict ruling, to support a conviction on the Park Sterling Bank forgery charge. See State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923); see also Galloway v. U.S., 319 U.S. 372 (1943) (holding that a directed verdict serves the same purpose as the demurrer to the evidence). That error prejudiced Appellant because the wrongful comments by the solicitor at closing regarding the Walmart charge invited the jury to impermissibly convict Appellant on the Park Sterling Bank forgery charge by using evidence of prior acts not in the record, and the court's purported "curative" instruction did not cure the unfair prejudice resulting from the error. See State v. Fortune, Op. No. 27932 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Dec. 4, 2019) (Shearhouse Adv. Sh. No. 46 at 19 – 20) (holding that the judge's "curative" instruction did not "cure" the solicitor's improper closing remarks).

Since the court granted directed verdict as to the Walmart charge, the evidence presented regarding that charge should have been treated as though it was never entered into the trial. Evans v. Michigan, 568 U.S. 313 (2013) (holding that a midtrial directed verdict was an acquittal for double jeopardy purposes); See U.S. v. Martin Linen Supply Co., 420 U.S. 564, 571 (1997) (a directed verdict is an acquittal if the ruling of the judge "actually represents a resolution, correct or not, of some or all of the factual elements of the offense charged.") see also People v. Stout, 108 Ill.App.3d 96 (1982) (holding that the legal effect of granting a motion for directed verdict is an acquittal.) see also Hood v. Bayless, 207 N.C. 82 (1934) (the legal effect of a

directed verdict is the same as that of a nonsuit or dismissal.) The granting of a directed verdict is an “equivalent procedure based on a finding of innocence.” See Evans, supra. Consequently, the solicitor using the Walmart charge in her closing arguments was improper because the state may not rely on matters not in evidence during closing argument. State v. Gaines, 271 S.C. 65, 244 S.E.2d 539 (1978). See State v. Huggins, 325 S.C. 103, 481 S.E.2d 114 (1997); see also State v. Homewood, 241 S.C. 231 (1962) (“An argument that discusses facts not in evidence is improper.”)

Here, during her closing arguments the solicitor turned the Walmart charge, a prior act for which Appellant was granted directed verdict, into a prior *bad* act, then she used it as propensity evidence to secure a conviction on the present charges. R. 109, ll. 14 – 23; R. 111, ll. 6 – 25; R. 112, ll. 19 – 23; R. 114, ll. 6 – 16; R. 117, ll. 2 – 14. The prejudice resulting from those improper comments cannot be overstated since the Walmart charge, forgery, *was the same charge for which he was still on trial*. Id.; State v. Gore, 283 S.C. 118, 121, 322 S.E.2d 12, 13 (“When, as here, the previous alleged bad act is strikingly similar to the one for which the appellant is being tried the danger of prejudice is enhanced.”)

In State v. Huggins, 325 S.C. 103, 481 S.E.2d 114 (1997) the South Carolina Supreme Court held that the solicitor’s comments on evidence not in the record during closing arguments that alleged Huggins made an inculpatory statement that she, “was going to kill [the decedent] one day,” to her brother was improper and warranted reversal of Huggins’ convictions for voluntary manslaughter and criminal conspiracy. Id. at 107 – 108, 481 S.E.2d at 116. When Huggins testified in her own defense, the state asked her if she made that inculpatory statement to her brother and she denied it. Id. During closing arguments, the solicitor referred to the statement that Huggins allegedly told her brother. Id. at 107, 481 S.E.2d at 116.

The Court determined that the state asking Huggins about the inculpatory statement, “did not amount to putting [the statement] into evidence.” Id. at 107, 481 S.E.2d at 116. The Court held that, “the reference to Appellant's ... plan and offering money for someone to kill [the decedent], when there was no evidence in the record that she had done so, was highly prejudicial *in light of the fact that she was on trial for [the decedent's] murder* (and for conspiring to commit his murder).” Id. at 108, 481 S.E.2d at 116. (emphasis added) Therefore, the trial court erred when it denied the motion for mistrial on that basis. Id. at 108, 481 S.E.2d at 117.

In State v. Gaines, 271 S.C. 65, 244 S.E.2d 539 (1978) Gaines was convicted of receiving stolen goods. During closing arguments, the state made referred to statements that were not introduced into evidence. Id. at 66, 244 S.E.2d at 540. The South Carolina Supreme Court explained that the solicitor's comments were clearly erroneous and that a “solicitor cannot rely, in his closing argument, on statements not in evidence.” Id. Accordingly, Gaines' conviction was reversed. Id.

In State v. Gore, 283 S.C. 118, 322 S.E.2d 12 (1984) Gore was convicted of voluntary manslaughter and arson. Id. at 119, 322 S.E.2d at 12. The state's theory of the case was that Gore set the fire to kill Coffey, the decedent, because she was going to end their relationship. Id. The state cross-examined Gore about a fire at a prior girlfriend's, Miriam Hooper, trailer while Gore lived there. Id. at 119 – 120, 322 S.E.2d at 12 – 13. There was no evidence presented during trial about the fire at Hooper's trailer and Gore was never charged or convicted for that fire.

The South Carolina Supreme Court explained, “Under our system of justice, a conviction must be based upon evidence of the offense for which the accused is on trial rather than prior criminal or immoral acts. Furthermore, where bad acts did not result in a conviction, guilty plea, indictment, or arrest of the appellant, this Court has limited the State's use of the evidence.”

Gore, at 120 – 121, 322 S.E.2d at 13. (citing State v. Smith, 279 S.C. 440, 308 S.E.2d 794 (1983). (Appellant's lover improperly related instance of the appellant's unconvicted sexual battery upon her in his trial for murder of another woman); State v. Rivers, 273 S.C. 75, 254 S.E.2d 299 (1979). (In trial for criminal sexual conduct with the prosecutrix, the court erred in receiving testimony from the appellant's wife regarding his prior unconvicted acts of sexual misconduct on her); State v. Conyers, 268 S.C. 276, 233 S.E.2d 95 (1977). (Allegations that the appellant poisoned her first husband not admissible because the evidence was not clear and convincing); State v. Drew, 316 S.E.2d 367 (S.C.1984). (Cross-examination and reply testimony regarding unconvicted act of burning a combine not proper in criminal conspiracy trial for burning a business.) The Court held that the solicitor's questioning in Gore was “*gravely prejudicial* and was, accordingly, reversible error,” especially in light of the fact that the alleged prior bad act was “strikingly similar” to the charges for which he was still on trial. Id. at 120 – 121, 322 S.E.2d at 12 – 13. (emphasis added)

In Cole v. State, 356 So.2d 1307 (1978), the District Court of Appeals in Florida reversed Cole's conviction because the solicitor cross-examined him about committing a sex crime with a fourteen-year-old girl for which a motion of acquittal had previously been granted. Id. at 1308 – 1309. At trial the state argued that the evidence of the acquitted charge was admissible to show “criminal intent and a common *modus operandi*.” Id. at 1309.

The Court of Appeals held that the admission of Cole's prior acquitted offense into evidence would be improper, even if it showed criminal intent or a common *modus operandi*, because “the state must prove that the accused perpetrated the acts sought to be introduced under the rule.” Id. The Court also held that the improper cross-examination by the state must have prejudiced Cole because the state referred to an acquitted offense, *which by its nature is not a*

*prior bad act*, as if Cole had committed that offense to show that Cole had a propensity to commit the present charges. Id. This was exactly what the state did in the present case. R. 109, ll. 14 – 23; R. 111, ll. 6 – 25; R. 112, ll. 19 – 23; R. 114, ll. 6 – 16; R. 117, ll. 2 – 14.

In Fleurimond v. State, 10 So.3d 1140 (2009) Fleurimond was convicted of two counts of trafficking in cocaine and two counts of possession of cocaine. Prior to trial, defense counsel made a motion to prohibit the state from introducing evidence concerning prior drug activity at the house where Fleurimond was arrested. Id. at 1142. The trial court granted the motion. Id.

However, later in the trial a state’s witness, Detective Belfort, stated that the arresting officers were at the house because they knew narcotics were sold there. Id. Defense counsel moved for a mistrial because the state had introduced evidence of the prior drug activity at the house. Id. The state argued that the testimony was proper because it showed why the police officers were at the house. Id. at 1143. The lower court denied the motion for a mistrial. Id.

During closing arguments, the state told the jury that Fleurimond was flushing drugs down the toilet when the arresting officers found him. Id. at 1145. Defense counsel objected to that comment because there was no evidence presented to support it. Id. The lower court sustained the objection and instructed the jury that “no such testimony had been presented at trial.” Id. Fleurimond was found guilty as indicted. Id.

The Florida District Court of Appeals determined that the Detective Belfort’s testimony was not admissible to explain why the detectives were at the house because the officer went into the details of the accusatory information. Id. at 1147. The Court held that the lower court abused its discretion when it did not declare a mistrial for the improper answers elicited by the prosecutor coupled with the wrongful closing argument and that the jury instruction did not cure the error. Id. at 1147 – 1148.

In Wilson v. State, 294 So.2d 327 (1974), Wilson appealed a perjury conviction where the solicitor made pointed and repeated improper references to the related earlier murder charge that resulted in acquittal. In 1972, Wilson was indicted for the alleged murder of her husband. Id. at 328. She testified in her own defense and was found not guilty. Id. Six months later she was charged with perjury from her testimony at her murder trial and was found guilty. Id.

The Supreme Court of Florida held that the solicitor's direct and repeated references to Wilson's prior murder trial, where the solicitor accused her of being guilty of that already acquitted crime, prejudiced Wilson's case. Id. at 329 – 330. The Court determined that “the total flavor of the trial sub judice amounted to a virtual retrial, under the guise of perjury,” and because of that “[Wilson] was *completely prejudiced*.” Id. (emphasis added)

In the present case, the Walmart charge had already been acquitted via directed verdict. R. 67, ll. 6 – 20. Accordingly, the lower court allowing the solicitor to use evidence from Appellant's innocuous conduct at Walmart during closing arguments for the Park Sterling bank charge was improper. R. 68, l. 24 – 99, l. 9; Gore, at 120 – 121, 322 S.E.2d at 13; Gaines, at 66, 244 S.E.2d at 540; Cole, at 1309.

The solicitor's repeated references to the Walmart charge during closing arguments unfairly prejudiced Appellant because the solicitor presented the acquitted charge to the jury as if Appellant had been convicted of that charge. R. 109, ll. 14 – 23; R. 111, ll. 6 – 25; R. 112, ll. 19 – 23; R. 114, ll. 6 – 16; R. 117, ll. 2 – 14; Cole, at 1309. Since Appellant was acquitted on the Walmart charge, it was improper for the solicitor to use details surrounding that incident because Appellant's actions were not “bad” in the prior bad act context. See Gore, supra; see also Smith, supra; see also Rivers, supra; see also Drew, supra; see also Conyers, supra. The state's

references to the already acquitted Walmart charge amounted to an attempt to retry Appellant for that crime. R. 111, ll. 6 – 25; Wilson, at 329 – 330.

The court’s jury instruction did nothing to cure the error in Appellant’s case. R. 96, l. 14 – 109, l. 19. The court instructed the jury they are only to deliberate on the Park Sterling Bank forgery charge. Id. The court also charged the jury to not to take into account evidence stricken from the record, but never informed the jury that the evidence from the Walmart charge was not in the record after the directed verdict was granted. R. 98, ll. 4 – 12; R. 100, ll. 10 – 12; R. 101, ll. 17 – 20; see Galloway, supra. The solicitor’s comments about the Walmart charge during closing manipulated the jury into believing that the Walmart charge evidence was not stricken from the record.

The risk of unfair prejudice to Appellant was not that the jury would still reach a verdict on the Walmart forgery charge, which is what the curative instruction explained. The risk of unfair prejudice to Appellant was that the jury would use evidence from the already acquitted Walmart charge to convict Appellant of the Park Sterling Bank charge. See State v. Fortune, Op. No. 27932 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Dec. 4, 2019) (Shearhouse Adv. Sh. No. 46 at 19 – 20) (holding that the trial court’s curative instruction that explained the jury’s role as, “the finders of the truth,” did not cure the improper comments by the solicitor where he claimed for himself the responsibility to decide truth because the unfair prejudice to Fortune was created when the solicitor misrepresented his own role, not a misrepresentation of the jury’s role.) Accordingly, the court’s jury instruction was inadequate to cure the unfair prejudice to Appellant because it did not address the error in this case. Specifically, the instruction did not explain that the evidence from the acquitted Walmart forgery charge was not to be considered for the Park Sterling Bank forgery charge that Appellant still faced.

Furthermore, the solicitor directly referenced the surveillance video from Walmart as evidence of Appellant's guilt for the Park Sterling bank charge. R. 114, ll. 6 – 16. The solicitor also told the jury to take the evidence from the Walmart charge into account when deliberating on the Park Sterling Bank charge. R. 111, ll. 6 – 25. Those two comments together completely undermined any minimal effect the court's purported "curative" instruction may have had.

Accordingly, Appellant's conviction for forgery should be reversed and he should be granted a new trial because the state unfairly prejudiced Appellant when it used his conduct at Walmart, of which he was acquitted, as a "prior bad act," to convict Appellant on the same charges at Park Sterling Bank. R. 109, ll. 14 – 23; R. 111, ll. 6 – 25; R. 112, ll. 19 – 23; R. 114, ll. 6 – 16; R. 117, ll. 2 – 14; see State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803; see also Huggins, at 108, 481 S.E.2d at 116.

**CONCLUSION**

By reason of the foregoing arguments, Appellant respectfully requests that this Court vacate his conviction and remand his case to the Union County Court of General sessions for a new trial.