RECEIVED

Apr 27 2020

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM UNION COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
Honorable William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000391

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

THOMAS HAROLD SAILORS, JR.,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

KEVIN S. BRACKETT
Solicitor, Sixteenth Judicial Circuit

210 West Main Street
Union, SC 29379
(864) 429-1639

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Attorneys should not comment on facts not in evidence. In this case, Sailors was tried jointly for two counts of forgery. Evidence showed Sailors attempted to cash a check at Walmart prior to presenting a forged check at a bank. The court directed a verdict of not guilty on the forgery charge arising from the Walmart incident. Did the trial court err by permitting the solicitor to comment on the Walmart incident in closing?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 16, 2017, Thomas Sailors presented a payroll check drawn on the account of AAA Union Tree Service at Park Sterling Bank in Union. (R.p.18).

Brenda Keith owned the business and had been a customer at the bank for many years. (R.p.28–30). The check was written in two different color inks and made payable to “cash to Thomas Sailors.” (R.p.19–20). The teller knew Keith and knew she did not make out her checks that way. (R.p.19, line 25). She checked Keith’s signature card on file at the bank and saw the signatures did not match. (R.p.20, lines 5–7). The teller contacted Keith, who confirmed that she did not write the check. (R.p.20–21).

The teller asked Sailors to wait in the lobby for Keith to arrive. Sailors claimed he was going outside to smoke but he got into a truck with another person, later identified as Amy Patrick. (R.p.14). The truck struck another car in the parking lot and Sailors got out and left on foot. (R.p.21).

Keith arrived with her checkbook. The check Sailors attempted to cash was taken out of sequence, with the preceding and subsequent checks still in the book. (R.p.24). The teller observed “trace numbers” on the check suggesting there had been a previous attempt to cash the check. (R.p.26).

Keith testified she was familiar with Sailors because he was related to her sister’s husband, but that she hadn’t seen him in years. (R.p.29–30). She testified she normally kept her checkbook at her sister’s store. (R.p.30). She did not give anyone permission to write the check. (R.p.30). Sailors had never worked for her.

(R.p.31). However, Amy Patrick (the getaway driver) worked for Keith's sister and would have had access to the checkbook. (R.p.33).

Investigator Jerome Beatty was assigned to the case. Through a conversation with another officer, Mark Gregory, he learned Sailors had attempted to cash a check at a Walmart on the previous day. (R.p.40). Gregory testified he was standing in line behind Sailors and had observed a Walmart employee refuse to cash a check he presented. (R.p.47–48). Beatty obtained video surveillance from the Walmart and he and Gregory identified Sailors attempting to cash a check. (R.p.41). The video showed the clerk running the check through a machine before telling Sailors she could not cash the check. (R.p.111, lines 21–23).

A Union County grand jury indicted Sailors for two counts of forgery, one count for presenting the check at the bank and one count for presenting the check at Walmart. He proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable William McKinnon on February 26–27, 2019. At the conclusion of the State's case, Sailors moved for a directed verdict. The trial court granted a directed verdict on the forgery charge arising from the Walmart incident, reasoning that the State did not prove that the check Sailors presented in Walmart was the same forged check he subsequently presented at the bank, and thus had not proved the Walmart incident was a forgery. The State nonetheless argued the Walmart incident showed Sailors acted with fraudulent intent when he presented the check at the bank. Sailors was convicted of the forgery count arising from the incident at the bank and was sentenced to four years' incarceration. This direct appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An appellate court will not disturb a trial court's ruling regarding a solicitor's argument unless there is an abuse of that discretion. Improper comments do not require reversal if they are not prejudicial to the defendant, and the appellant has the burden of proving he did not receive a fair trial because of the alleged improper argument. State v. Webb, 389 S.C. 174, 178, 697 S.E.2d 662, 664 (Ct. App. 2010).

ARGUMENT

The solicitor's closing argument properly emphasized the probative value of facts in evidence.

Sailors claims the trial court erred by failing to prohibit the solicitor from mentioning the Walmart incident in her closing argument, alleging this amounted to a comment on facts not in the record. His argument is meritless. The solicitor properly based her argument on facts in evidence. Even though the trial judge granted a directed verdict on the forgery charge arising from the Walmart incident, the incident was still relevant to prove Sailors' criminal intent. Moreover, Sailors never moved for mistrial or to sever the cases, and cannot show prejudice from the comment on properly-admitted evidence of the Walmart incident. This Court should affirm.

A. Issue preservation.

The issue as raised on appeal is not preserved for review. First, Sailors' never objected or moved to prohibit the solicitor from commenting on the Walmart incident. It was the solicitor who raised the issue out of an abundance of caution. In response, the trial court asked defense counsel "what she [thought]," and counsel responded that her "concern is just trying to bolster a case. . . . Trying to bolster it with, you know, this we're saying it happened twice even though it didn't. It might not have happened. We're not sure." (R.p.68). The court responded, "I think I will allow it." The solicitor proposed a jury instruction to the effect that the jury should only consider the evidence as it related to the count relating to the bank incident, and defense counsel responded, "[t]hat is fine." (R.p.70). The defense then

presented its case and no further mention was made of the scope of the State's closing argument. Sailors did not object during the solicitor's closing.

Sailors failed to articulate at trial a valid legal basis why the solicitor should be precluded from mentioning the Walmart incident in her closing argument. Sailors never alleged the Walmart incident equated to propensity or character evidence, as he does in his brief. Nor did he object at any point in the State's closing argument, or move for a mistrial following the trial court's grant of a directed verdict on the Walmart count. Accordingly, the issue is not preserved for review. State v. Smith, 337 S.C. 27, 34, 522 S.E.2d 598, 601 (1999) (explaining the ground raised in support of a claim of error on appeal must be the same ground offered in support of the objection at trial); State v. Black, 319 S.C. 515, 521, 462 S.E.2d 311, 315 (Ct. App. 1995) (explaining "the proper course to be pursued when counsel makes an improper argument is for opposing counsel to immediately object").

B. The solicitor's closing argument properly emphasized the probative value of facts in evidence.

In his brief, Sailors cites cases prohibiting arguments that include comments on facts not in evidence. See, e.g. State v. Gaines, 283 S.C. 65, 244 S.E.2d 539 (1978). These cases are completely inapposite because the solicitor in this case did not comment on facts not in evidence. Her comments about the Walmart incident were all based on properly admitted evidence.

Furthermore, the facts were relevant. Even though the trial court ultimately directed a verdict of not guilty on the Walmart forgery charge, the incident still had probative value. The State did not offer the Walmart incident as an unrelated

“prior bad act,” but as evidence of a continuous course of conduct leading to the fraudulent presentation of the check at the bank. Sailors’ apparent failed attempt to cash Keith’s check at Walmart tended to show his subsequent attempt to cash the check at the bank was made with fraudulent intent. See State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803, 808 (1923) (holding temporally connected incident of forgery was admissible to establish criminal intent). The solicitor emphasized the prior attempt to cash the check along with other facts—the two-tone writing on the check, Sailors’ hesitation to give the teller his license, and his flight from the bank—to show Sailors’ criminal intent. (R.p.114–15). Furthermore, the Walmart incident provided relevant context and was thus part of the *res gestae* of the crime. Id.

In this way, this case is distinguishable from the cases cited in Sailors’ brief where the State introduced prior uncharged criminal acts without a factual connection to the offense for which the defendant was on trial. Compare State v. Gore, 283 S.C. 118, 121, 322 S.E.2d 12, 13 (1984) (finding error in solicitor’s cross-examination concerning uncharged prior arson unconnected to charged crime where there was no “probative evidence linking the appellant to the prior act”). The case cited by Sailors that is most analogous is from out of state—Cole v. State, 356 So. 2d 1307 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1978). In that case, the State tried Cole for three counts of sexual abuse against three victims that occurred on the same day. One of the victims could not identify Cole at trial and the trial court granted a directed verdict on that count, but allowed the prosecutor to argue that the abuse against that victim proved Cole assaulted the remaining two victims. The appellate court held

the prosecutor's argument was improper because the State had not proved Cole was the person who assaulted the third victim. Cole, 356 So. 2d at 1309 ("A necessary predicate for permitting such testimony is a showing that the accused perpetrated the acts sought to be introduced under the rule."). By contrast, in this case there was no question Sailors was the person who attempted to cash a check at Walmart. Sailors admitted this on cross-examination. (R.p.78–79). Even if the State failed to prove the Walmart incident constituted a forgery, there was no question that the event happened. Accordingly, it was relevant and there was no reason to prohibit comment on it.

Sailors' argument—that the trial court should have prevented the solicitor from discussing relevant facts merely because the trial court found the State failed to prove they constituted a separate count of forgery—is not supported by authority. It is not error for the solicitor to emphasize the probative value of facts in evidence. This Court should affirm.

C. Prejudice.

Even if the trial court erred by refusing to prohibit the solicitor from commenting on the Walmart incident, Sailors has failed to show this had any impact on the outcome of the case. See State v. Huggins, 325 S.C. 103, 107, 481 S.E.2d 114, 116 (1997) (explaining improper comments do not warrant reversal unless they "so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process"). Regardless of the solicitor's comments, the jurors had already heard and seen the actual evidence. Defense counsel did not object when the solicitor questioned Sailors about the Walmart incident in cross-examination.

(R.p.78–79). Both lawyers—including defense counsel—commented on it in closing. (R.p.121–52). Prohibiting the solicitor from discussing the evidence would not have erased it from the jurors’ memories. If Sailors wanted to cure the supposed prejudice caused by evidence of his actions at Walmart, he should have moved to sever the cases at the outset, or for a mistrial after the directed verdict was granted. He did not. Accordingly, he has not shown prejudice resulted from the solicitor’s comments on the facts in evidence. This Court should affirm.

CONCLUSION